FILED

10/02/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0418

APPELLANTS
BRIEF

FILED

OCT - 2 2024

Bowen Greenwood
Clerk of Supreme Court
State of Montana

STATEMENT OF CASE

This case, NO. 24-0418 is a case that will show by law, STATE V. HINMAN 2023, violations of the Ex Post Facto Clause, the MONT. CONSTITUTION, ART. II § 31, By increasing restrictions and punishments under the MONT. Sexual, Violent Offender Registration Act, which allowed additional punishment which was not lawful when the sexual offense was committed, (9-7-1990). HINMAN V. STATE 2023.

MONT. Const. ART II § 31: (1) does not punish a crime which was not lawful when committed; (2) the amendments do not deprive a person of any defense; (3) They do not make the Punishment for a prior conviction more burdensome, but apply only to a current sexual conviction. STATE V. ANDERSON 2008 MT 116.

Ex Post Facto Clause applies to cases in which the statute of limitations expired before subsection (9) came into effect; the expiration of a statute of limitations

1 created a conclusive presumption forbidding
2 prosecution, and any punishment when the
3 limitation period was extended after the
4 expiration date has passed. Tipton v.
5 Mont., - thirteenth Judicial District Court,
6 201...

7 There are (4) four categories of laws that
8 will violate the Ex post Facto Clause: (1) EVERY
9 law that makes an action done "BEFORE" the
10 passing of the law, (1997), and which was
11 innocent when done, criminal, and punishes
12 such action: (2) every law that aggravates
13 a crime, or makes it greater than it was,
14 when committed: (3) every law that changes
15 the punishment, than the law annexed to the
16 crime, when committed; (4) every law that
17 alters the legal rules of evidence, and
18 receives less, or different, testimony, than
19 the law required at the time of the Commission
20 of the offense, in order to convict the
21 offender. All these, and similar laws are
22 manifestly unjust and oppressive.

23 With these rules of law the County
24 (Mineral) Attorney violated all (4) of these
25 rules.

26 State v. Hinman 2023 MT 116.
27

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The expiration of a statute of limitations creates a conclusive presumption forbidding prosecution, and any alleged perpetrator is not liable to any punishment when the limitation period is extended after that expiration date has passed, (Dec 30, 2015), [1] punishes as a crime an act which was not lawful when committed; [2] makes a punishment for a crime more burdensome; or [3] deprives [a] person charged with a crime of any defense available under the law at the time the act [was] committed. STATE V. MOUNT 2003 MT 275, [P.24].

Under the Montana Constitution, Citizens have the right to be free from retroactive punishment, it is "UNCONSTITUTIONAL" to reach back years or decades and alter the punishments from previous convictions or retroactively punish conduct that was once lawful, STATE V. HINMAN 2023 MT 116 [HN8].

The date to register would expire 10 years after the initial date of registration, STATE V. HINMAN 2023 MT 116 [P5] LG.

IAC, Ineffective Assistance of Counsel. In Mont. the right to counsel includes the right to "EFFECTIVE" assistance of appointed

1 Counsel. HANS V. STATE 283, MONT. 379, 408...
2 more over, when, but for Counsel's deficient
3 performance, such error is prejudicial, STATE
4 V. ROGERS, 2001 MT 165, ¶24.

5 During the courts proceeding Appellants appointed
6 Attorney failed to raise or research Appellant's
7 criminal conviction of, Sexual Abuse of a minor
8 from the STATE OF IDAHO, to know if the state
9 had the legal right to charge (Appellant) with
10 failure to register as a sexual offender; to [SEE]
11 if I met the state statute of limitation, If the
12 Appellants appointed Attorney would have fully
13 investigated, he would have found that the
14 Appellant met the IDAHO and the Montana
15 Rules of law, SVORA requirements.

16 I was arrested on January 16, 2014, which
17 by that date and year the Appellant had met the
18 requirements, Appellants Appointed Attorney should
19 have raised the issue of meeting the Montana
20 SVORA laws.

21 Appellant should have never been arrested
22 or even charged, let alone convicted.

23 Appellants Attorney should have raised the issue,
24 [After meeting the 10 year registration requirement,
25 It would have "EXPIRED" automatically] there
26 would have been no requirement of Appellant
27 petitioning the courts in the County Appellant.

1 resides in. I would have EXPIRED automatically,
2 state v. Johnson 2019 MT 34.

3 Montana law, when you move from one County
4 to the next within the state you have up to
5 10 days to register, on the 11th day you must
6 register in that County. Appellant moved from
7 Missoula County to Mineral County
8 on January 11th 2016 and upon the 5th
9 day Appellant was arrested for failure to
10 register within 3 business days.

11 Under Section 46-23-505, MCA, you have
12 10 days and on the 11th day you have to
13 register in that County. State v. Simple.

14 Prosecutorial Misconduct, 2-18-103, MCA,
15 officers and employees: (1) elected officials; (4)
16 Judges and employees, (Prosecutor) of the Judicial
17 Branch; (8) Just cause may include, but is not
18 limited to, an actual violation of an established
19 agency standard, procedure, legitimate order,
20 policy, or labor agreement, failure to meet applicable
21 professional standards; Criminal misconduct;
22 wrongful discrimination, deliberate misconduct;
23 negligence; etc.

24 I, Appellant believe the Prosecutor violated
25 the standards of conduct by; (1) not meeting
26 procedural legitimate order; (2) NOT doing
27

1 a complete back ground investigation on the
2 Appellants sexual Criminal Conviction to see
3 what laws Appellant falls under from the time
4 of the conviction. (3) Policy: not following
5 the rules of Prosecutorial Procedure, fair
6 and Just. (4) Deliberate misconduct: Deliberately
7 failed to investigate the Montana rules
8 of law on Sexual offenses and registration
9 requirement on a conviction 25 years
10 prior, withheld and lied to the courts
11 and to the people of Montana to gain
12 a conviction. (5) Neglegantly: Acted in a
13 Prosecutorial misconduct to deliberately
14 cause harm to an innocent civilian
15 to gain a Conviction.

16 This newly discovered law; State v. Hinman
17 2023 MT 116, shows cause Appellant did not
18 commit the crime of Failure to register as a
19 Sexual Offender, by the 1995 SVORA mont. laws
20 "Appellant" should have been removed from the
21 sexual offender registration automatically,
22 Appellant met the requirements of the 1995 SVORA,
23 Mont. Law on registering.

24 Appellant discovered this newly discovered
25 Law on Dec 17, 2023.

26 A Post Conviction is allowed normally
27 within the (1) year statute of limitations under

1 46-21-102(2), when a claim is made that alleges the
2 existence of "Newly discovered law". Section
3 46-21-102(2), requires claims that allege the existence
4 of law, to ~~be~~^{be} raised in a petition filed within
5 (1) one year of the date on which the conviction
6 becomes final, [or] the date on which the petitioner
7 discovers, or reasonably should have discovered
8 the existence of the law, whichever is later,
9 (December 17, 2023).

10 In an untimely post-conviction petition,
11 the exception to the (1) one-year time limit
12 under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2), calls for
13 existence of newly discovered law, (evidence).

14 The courts may correct a factually erroneous
15 sentence or judgment of ["ANYTIME"]. Illegal
16 sentences "MUST" be addressed in the manner
17 provided by law for appeal and Post-conviction
18 relief. Mont. Code, Ann. § 46-18-116(13).

19 Under newly discovered law, (evidence) the
20 state acted in a Constitutional violation of
21 this state and/or the Constitution of the United
22 states, that the courts was without jurisdiction
23 to impose such sentence, under the Constitutional
24 violation stated in the Post-conviction DV-31-
25 2024-0000021-PR, the state failed, (errored)
26 to hear alleged allegations.
27

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under the Ex Post Facto Clause, Quantum of punishment. Also under the Montana Constitution, citizens have the right to be "FREE" from retroactive punishments. State v. Hinman 2023 MT 116. It is unconstitutional to reach back years or decades and alter the punishments from previous convictions or retroactively punish conduct that was once lawful.

Congressional Duties & powers, Bills of Attainder and Ex Post Facto Clause. A test for determining whether a law in Criminal matters is ex post facto is if the law: (1) punishes as a crime an act which was not ~~un~~lawful when committed.

STATE V. MOUNT 2023 MT 275.

IAC, Appellants ineffective assistance of Counsel claim raises issues on Appeal because there was no reasonable justification for Appellants counsel to fail to object to the Ex Post Facto violation. Defendant, Appellants Counsel failed to "RECOGNIZE" that, as to the 2016 allegations, Appellant was being prosecuted under a statute that "DID NOT" apply and carried a substantially more severe penalty.

1 Counsel failed to object to the statute under
2 which Appellant was prosecuted resulted in prejudice
3 and carried a more severe punishment that did not
4 ingest as a matter of law. State v Tipton 2021
5 MT 281.

6 The State had no right to charge "Appellant" with
7 Failure to register as a Sexual Offender. If counsel
8 would have done a full investigation of the Appellant's
9 criminal background, "Kuek" would have found that the
10 Appellant met the IDAHO and Montana SVORA
11 requirements. By the time and date counsel
12 would have known that the Appellant met the
13 10 year registration requirement by at least
14 18 days. After meeting the 10 year requirement,
15 registering would have "EXPIRED" automatically.
16 there would not have been a requirement of
17 Appellant to petition the courts in the
18 County Appellant resided in. It would have
19 expired automatically. State v. Johnson
20 2019 MT 34.

21 Prosecutorial Misconduct and miscarriage
22 of Justice. The prosecutor violated several
23 procedural legitimate orders. Failed to do
24 a complete background investigation on the
25 Appellant to see what laws apply under
26 the time of the Appellant's conviction, (1990).

1 Prosecution Deliberately failed to investigate on a
2 full legal conviction. "IF" the prosecutor would
3 have done a full legal investigation, the state
4 would have found that "I"; Appellant would
5 have met the SVORA and the Appellants
6 registration requirements would have
7 "Expired" automatically which would ^{show} show
8 that the Appellant did not commit the
9 offense of "Failing to register as a sexual
10 offender."

11
12 Post Conviction Statute of limitations, Mont.
13 Code Ann 25 46-21-102(2), is a jurisdictional limit
14 on litigation and is waived [only] when there
15 is a "Clear" miscarriage of Justice, one so obvious
16 that the Judgement is rendered a complete
17 nullity, the "miscarriage of Justice" exception
18 does not apply to Post Conviction claims
19 "UNLESS" a Appellant alleges newly discovered
20 Law establishing that the Appellant did "NOT"
21 Commit the offense.
22
23
24
25
26
27

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellant will raise the expert facts
clause violation upheld by the Mont. Const.
Art. II §31, back'd by the United States
Constitution, State v. Hirman 2023 MT 16.
With the above addressed violations and
discovering law that back'd the above
violations the District Courts should
have corrected the plain error.
Plus with the State, (County Attorney) "I"
acting under a miscarriage of justice, I"
further bring it to the Supreme Court to
address these issues.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

ARGUMENT

Appellant raises the issue of a *Ex Post Facto* violation, IAC and Prosecutorial misconduct in a Post-Conviction.

Honorable John W. Larson denied the Post-conviction on a untimely warrant. "LARSON" denied the Post-conviction on the same day that it was filed, (May 1st. 2024) in the District Court. I believe Judge Larson and the County Attorney failed to even review the allegations in the Post-Conviction and failed to correct the error. Appendix A, B. STATE V. Hinman 2023, MT 116, Mont. Code Ann. Rule 3.8

On a untimely post-conviction from the (1) year requirement from the final judgement can be waived [only] when there is a "CLEAR" miscarriage of justice, one so obvious that the judgement is rendered a complete nullity.

The miscarriage of justice discovered establishes the "Appellant" did "NOT" commit the offense, the (1) year time bar is waived under Montana Code Ann. §§ 46-21-102(2). and under the Montana Code Ann, Rule 3.8

On Appeals I, Billy J. Rogers, Appellant prays that the Courts incorporate the criminal case file, Ex Post Facto Clause, Mont. Const. Art II § 31, SVOB, Registration Act of 1995, the Sexual

CONCLUSION

Again under 46-21-102(2) - A claim that alleges the existence of newly discovered law, (evidenced), if proved and viewed in light of the law as a whole would establish that the Appellant did not engage in the criminal conduct for which the Appellant was convicted, may be raised in a Appeal / petition filed within (1) year of the date on which the conviction became final, [or] reasonably should have discovered the existence of the law, which is later, (December 17, 2023).
Post-Conviction Statute of limitation, Mont. Code Ann. 46-21-102(2), is a jurisdictional limit on litigation and is waived [only] when there is "clear" miscarriage of justice, one so obvious that the judgment is rendered a complete nullity, the "miscarriage of justice" exception does not apply to Post-conviction claims "UNLESS" a defendant/Appellant alleges newly discovered law establishing that the Appellant did "NOT" commit the offense.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

1 offender "shall" be released of registering
2 "automatically" expiring as long as the offender
3 did not violate the law by failing to register
4 or even commit a new felony offense.

5 By the state of Montana increasing the
6 Appellants registration requirements of the
7 Montana Sexual, Violent Offender Registration
8 Act, as amended, violated the Ex Post Facto
9 Clause and Mont. Const. Art II § 31.

10 I, Appellant hereby request the supreme
11 courts for reversal, removing Appellant
12 from the Sexual Offender Registration Act
13 due to meeting the 10 year registration
14 Act of 1995 and expunge the case from the
15 Appellants record, (DC-201601) and to apply
16 all time incarcerated and or on Probation
17 for such crime "be" given towards Case No.
18 DC-32-2022-0000605-IN, and be released
19 from confinement immediately, to avoid any
20 further civil action towards the state and
21 or the Appointed Counsel, "Kirk Krutilla."

22
23
24 The expiration of a statute of Limitations
25 creates a conclusive presumption forbidding
26 prosecution, and any alleged perpetrator
27

1 is not liable to any punishment when the
2 limitations period is extended after that
3 expiration date has passed, (December 30, 2015).
4 [1] punishes as a crime, an act which was not
5 lawful when committed.

6 The courts should have granted the Post-
7 Conviction and applied a full investigation
8 of said allegations.

9 Judge, (Larson) denied the Post-
10 conviction due to untimely filing but