01/21/2025

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 24-0418

BILLY JOE ROGERS,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA.

Respondent and Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Mineral County, The Honorable John W. Larson, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General MARDELL PLOYHAR Assistant Attorney General **215 North Sanders** P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 Phone: 406-444-2026 mployhar@mt.gov

DEBRA JACKSON Mineral County Attorney P.O. Box 339 Superior, MT 59872-0339

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF AND APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the district court erred when it denied Rogers's untimely petition for postconviction relief in which he argued that he should not have been convicted of failure to register as a sexual offender in 2016 based on *State v. Hinman*, 2023 MT 116, 412 Mont. 434, 530 P.3d 1271.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Billy J. Rogers pleaded guilty to failure to register as a sexual offender, a felony, and partner or family member assault, a misdemeanor, in 2016. (DC-2016-1 Doc. 30.) In 2024, he filed a petition for postconviction relief arguing that he should not have been convicted of failure to register based on this Court's recent case law. The district court denied the petition as untimely. (DV-24-21 Doc. 3.)¹ Rogers challenges the denial of his petition for postconviction relief on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Rogers was charged in DC-2016-1 with failure to register as a sexual offender, partner or family member assault, and criminal possession of drug paraphernalia. (DC-2016-1 Doc. 30.) Pursuant to a plea agreement, he pleaded

¹ The order is attached to Rogers's brief but is not listed in his appendix.

guilty to failure to register as a sexual offender and partner or family member assault, and he received a suspended sentence. (*Id.* at 2-3.) Rogers did not appeal his convictions.

The State subsequently moved to amend Rogers's probation conditions to add a requirement that he complete sexual offender treatment, to which he agreed. (DC-2016-1 Docs. 31, 32, Ex. A at 2.) The motion was based on evidence that Rogers had sent a video of his penis to females over social media. (DC-2016-1 Doc. 31.) Rogers's sentences were revoked twice based on his repeated use of methamphetamine and his failure to participate in sexual offender treatment. (DC-2016-1 Docs. 32, 41, 43, 48, 49, 62, 65.)

On May 1, 2024, Rogers filed a petition for postconviction relief challenging his 2016 conviction for failure to register as a sexual offender. (DV-24-21 Doc. 1, available at Appellant's App. A.) He raised three claims: (1) his conviction violated the *ex post facto* clause; (2) his counsel was ineffective for failing to argue that he met the statute of limitations for his registration; and (3) the prosecutor committed misconduct by not conducting a full investigation and learning that he was not required to register. (*Id.*) Rogers attached an affidavit in which he stated that he pleaded guilty pursuant to a plea agreement without knowledge of the 1995 version of the Sexual or Violent Offender Registration Act (SVORA). (DV-24-21 Doc. 2, available at Appellant's App. B.) He asserted that he should not have been charged or convicted of failing to register. (*Id.*)

The district court denied Rogers's petition without discussing the merits of the claims because a postconviction petition must be filed within one year of the date that the conviction becomes final, and the judgment in Rogers's case had issued on November 22, 2016. (DV-24-21 Doc. 3.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court correctly dismissed Rogers's petition for postconviction relief because he filed it more than six years after his time to file a petition for postconviction relief expired. Further, Rogers did not establish that he had a ground for relief under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2), which allows a petitioner to obtain relief if he provides newly discovered evidence demonstrating that he did not commit the offense for which he was convicted. Rogers could not prevail under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2) for five reasons: (1) the claims he raised are not appropriate for relief under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2); (2) he did not present any newly discovered evidence demonstrating his innocence; (3) he did not provide any documentation or evidence to support his claims; (4) he waived his *ex post facto* claim by pleading guilty; and (5) *Hinman* does not prohibit his conviction because he was still required to register under the 2005 version of the

SVORA. Accordingly, Rogers's 2016 conviction for failure to register should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of review

This Court reviews a district court's denial of a petition for postconviction relief to determine whether the court's pertinent findings of fact were clearly erroneous, whether its conclusions of law were correct, and whether any exercise of discretion was an abuse of discretion. *Henderson v. State*, 2024 MT 253, ¶ 10, ____ Mont. ___, 558 P.3d 749. Findings of fact are clearly erroneous only if they are not supported by substantial evidence, the court misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or this Court is firmly convinced that the court is otherwise mistaken. *Id.*

II. The district court correctly denied Rogers's untimely petition.

A. The court correctly concluded that the petition was untimely.

A person seeking postconviction relief must file a petition within one year of the date that the conviction becomes final. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(1). If a petitioner does not appeal, the conviction becomes final when the time for appeal to the Montana Supreme Court expires. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(1)(a). In criminal cases, an appeal must be taken within 60 days after the entry of the final

judgment. M. R. App. P. 4(5)(i); State v. Garner, 2014 MT 312, ¶ 23, 377 Mont.

173, 339 P.3d 1. The time-bar established in Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102 "constitutes a rigid, categorical time prescription that governs post-conviction petitions." *Davis v. State*, 2008 MT 226, ¶ 23, 334 Mont. 300, 187 P.3d 654.

The judgment in Rogers's original case was issued November 22, 2016. (DC-2016-1 Doc. 30.) He did not file a direct appeal. (*See* DC-2016-1 ROA.) Pursuant to M. R. App. P. 4(5)(i), Rogers's convictions became final 60 days later on January 21, 2017. Rogers did not file a petition until May 1, 2024. That petition was more than seven years too late. As a result, it could not be reviewed under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(1).

B. Rogers did not establish a ground to have his untimely petition reviewed under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2).

Rogers did not cite to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2), but his assertion that he had "newly discovered evidence" suggests that he sought to obtain relief under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2). Although the court did not discuss Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2), it correctly denied his petition because he did not demonstrate a ground for relief under that statute.

Montana Code Annotated § 46-21-102(2) provides that

[a] claim that alleges the existence of newly discovered evidence that, if proved and viewed in light of the evidence as a whole would establish that the petitioner did not engage in the criminal conduct for which the petitioner was convicted, may be raised in a petition filed within 1 year of the date on which the conviction becomes final or the

date on which the petitioner discovers, or reasonably should have discovered, the existence of the evidence, whichever is later.

This Court recently clarified that Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2) narrowly applies "*only to* postconviction claims for exonerative release based on newly discovered evidence of actual substantive innocence of guilt, i.e., claims 'alleg[ing] . . . newly discovered evidence that, if proved and viewed in light of the evidence as a whole[,] would establish that the petitioner *did not engage in* the criminal conduct' at issue." *Henderson*, ¶ 50 (emphasis in original).

Although Rogers asserted that he had newly discovered evidence (Appellant's App. A at 1, 7), none of the three claims he raised was a claim of actual innocence. (*See* DV-24-21 Doc. 1.) Instead, Rogers argued that his conviction violated the prohibition on the *ex post facto* application of laws, that his counsel was ineffective, and that the prosecution committed misconduct. (*See id.*) None of those claims could be reviewed in Rogers's untimely petition for postconviction relief because Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2) applies only to a claim of innocence based on newly discovered evidence demonstrating that the defendant did not commit the criminal offense.

C. Rogers did not provide newly discovered evidence demonstrating that he did not commit the offense of failure to register as a sexual offender.

Although Rogers did not directly raise a claim that he was actually innocent, he asserted that newly discovered evidence proved that he did not commit the

offense. If this is interpreted as a claim of actual innocence that can be reviewed under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2), it was appropriate to deny the petition because Rogers failed to provide any newly discovered evidence demonstrating his actual innocence.

To prevail under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2), a petitioner must provide "reliable 'newly discovered evidence that, if proved and viewed in the light of the evidence as a whole[,] would' be sufficient to *affirmatively and unquestionably* 'establish that the petitioner did not engage in the criminal conduct' at issue." *Henderson*, ¶ 50 (emphasis in original; citation omitted). The statute requires new factual evidence of innocence, rather than a new legal argument.

Rogers has not provided any "newly discovered evidence" about his registration. Instead, he raises a new legal argument asserting that he was not required to register. That legal argument is not appropriate for review because it is not based on factual evidence that is newly discovered.

D. Rogers also failed to meet the pleading requirements.

In addition to the grounds raised above, it was appropriate to deny Rogers's petition because he failed to meet the pleading requirements. A petition for postconviction relief must "identify all facts supporting the grounds for relief set forth in the petition and have attached affidavits, records, or other evidence establishing the existence of those facts." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-104(1)(c).

The petition must also "be accompanied by a supporting memorandum, including appropriate arguments and citations and discussion of authorities." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-104(2).

Rogers did not provide any records or evidence to support his claim. In fact, he did not even provide records pertaining to the basis for his duty to register. It is impossible based on the lack of record provided by Rogers to determine with certainty what the basis is for his duty to register in 2016. Accordingly, it would have been appropriate to dismiss his petition based on his failure to meet the pleading standards.

E. Rogers waived his *ex post facto* claim when he pleaded guilty.

Rogers's argument that he is innocent is really an argument that applying the 2016 SVORA to him violated the prohibition on the *ex post facto* application of laws. Rogers waived that legal argument by pleading guilty because a guilty plea waives all nonjurisdictional defects. *State v. Pavey*, 2010 MT 104, ¶ 11, 356 Mont. 248, 231 P.3d 1104. Rogers's waiver of his *ex post facto* claim provides an additional reason why Rogers's petition was properly dismissed.

F. *Hinman* does not establish that Rogers was not required to register in 2016.

For all of the reasons provided above, it is unnecessary to review the merits of Rogers's claim that he should not have been required to register in 2016 under

Hinman. But, if this Court reviews that claim, it should be denied because even if *Hinman* applies retroactively to Rogers's 2016 conviction, it does not establish that he was not required to register in 2016.

As noted above, Rogers failed to provide any record of his underlying conviction that was the basis for his failure to register. He asserts that he was convicted of sexual abuse of a minor under the age of 16 in Idaho in 1991, and that he was incarcerated in Idaho for that conviction until December 27, 2005. (Appellant's App. A at 2.) Assuming those facts are accurate, Rogers was correctly required to register in Montana when he resided in the state, as demonstrated below.

1. Enactment of the SVORA

Montana enacted the SVORA in 1989. 1989 Mont. Laws, ch. 293. The 1997 amendments to the SVORA made the act apply retroactively to all "sexual offenders who are sentenced or who are in the custody or under the supervision of the department of corrections on or after July 1, 1989." 1997 Mont. Laws, ch. 375, § 18. This Court has interpreted changes to the Act to apply retroactively to offenders. *State v. Mount*, 2003 MT 275, ¶ 29, 317 Mont. 481, 78 P.3d 829. The SVORA applies to Rogers because, according to his facts, he was convicted of a sexual offense and was in custody after July 1, 1989.

2. This Court held in *Mount* that the retroactive application of the SVORA did not violate *ex post facto* principles.

The retroactive application of a civil sanction does not violate the prohibition on the *ex post facto* application of a law if the law is not punitive. *Mount*, ¶¶ 33-36; *Frazier v. Montana State Dep't of Corr.*, 277 Mont. 82, 85, 920 P.2d 93, 95 (1996) ("A civil sanction will implicate ex post facto concerns only if it can be fairly characterized as punishment."). In *Mount*, this Court concluded that the 2001 SVORA was a nonpunitive, civil regulatory scheme, so the retroactive application of the law to Mount did not violate the prohibition on *ex post facto* laws in the United States and Montana Constitutions. *Mount*, ¶¶ 38-90.

This Court's analysis in *Mount* relied heavily on *Smith v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 84 (2003), in which the Supreme Court applied the intents-effects test and held that Alaska's registration act, which was similar to Montana's, did not violate the *ex post facto* clause of the United States Constitution. *Mount*, ¶¶ 30-86. Under that test, a court looks at whether the intent of a law is punitive by analyzing the declared purpose of the law and the structure of the law. *Mount*, ¶ 42. If the intent of the law is punitive, the law is deemed punitive and cannot be applied retroactively. *Mount*, ¶ 33. If the declared purpose of the law and the structure of the law are nonpunitive, then the intent of the law is to enact a civil regulatory scheme. *Mount*, ¶ 34.

A court must then determine whether the effect of the law is punitive by applying the factors from *Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martinez*, 372 U.S. 144 (1963). The seven nonexhaustive factors include: (1) whether the law imposes an affirmative restraint or disability; (2) the historical treatment of the law; (3) a finding of scienter; (4) whether the law was traditionally aimed at punishment; (5) whether the law applies to criminal behavior; (6) whether the law has a nonpunitive purpose; and (7) the excessiveness of the law in application. *Mount*, ¶ 35 (citing *Mendoza-Martinez*, 372 U.S. at 168-69). If these factors demonstrate, in totality, that the effect of the law is nonpunitive, the law will not be held to violate the *ex post facto* clause. *Mount*, ¶ 36.

Applying that test, this Court concluded that the 2001 SVORA was not punitive. This Court examined the preamble of the SVORA, which discussed the danger of recidivism and the goal of protecting the public. Based on the language of the preamble, this Court determined that the declared purpose of the SVORA was nonpunitive. *Mount*, ¶¶ 44-45. Because the declared purpose was clearly nonpunitive, this Court concluded that the intent of the SVORA was nonpunitive. *Mount*, ¶¶ 48-49.

Examining the *Mendoza-Martinez* factors, this Court concluded that the effects of the SVORA were also nonpunitive. Because Mount was only required to register in person once and could later renew by mail, he was not restricted on

where he could live, and he could eventually petition for removal, this Court concluded that the registration requirement was an indirect restraint consistent with a regulatory scheme. *Mount*, ¶¶ 55-56. This Court concluded that the purpose of the registration and disclosure requirements was "not to shame and embarrass the registrant, but rather, to provide parents with information necessary to protect themselves and their vulnerable children and to provide law enforcement with information necessary to track a class of offenders who have a high propensity for recidivism." *Mount*, ¶ 60. This Court further explained that the registration and disclosure requirements established a regulatory scheme that had the "purpose of (1) protecting the public from the recidivism of sex offenders; (2) assisting law enforcement efforts in gathering information; and (3) preventing victimization and resolving sexual offenses." *Mount*, ¶ 74. The Court concluded that the requirements were "reasonably related to the Act's purposes[,]" and they were "tailored to disclose only necessary information." Mount, ¶¶ 75, 84. After balancing all of the factors in the Smith intents-effects test, this Court concluded that the SVORA did not violate the ex post facto clauses of the United States or Montana Constitutions. *Mount*, ¶ 89.

3. In *Hinman*, this Court held that the amendments to the SVORA passed in 2007 and thereafter could not be applied retroactively, but the Court did not overrule *Mount*.

Beginning in 2007, the Legislature made significant changes to the SVORA that significantly increased the burdens on and impacts to registrants. *See Hinman*, ¶¶ 10 (citing 2007 Mont. Laws, ch. 483, §§ 20-23; 2013 Mont. Laws, ch. 101, § 2; 2015 Mont. Laws, ch. 110, § 4), 18-24. This Court concluded in *Hinman* that the 2007 and subsequent amendments to the SVORA rendered it punitive. *Hinman*, ¶ 24. The Court explained that the regular in-person contact required by the amendments created a system similar to permanent probation. *Hinman*, ¶ 19. The Court further explained that the increased publication of information about offenders exacerbated the stigma created by registration. *Hinman*, ¶ 21.

This Court "conclude[d] that the SVORA structure in place since 2007 is punitive and therefore cannot apply retroactively under the *ex post facto* clause." *Hinman*, ¶ 24. The Court explained that it was holding "only that SVORA since its amendments in 2007, and thereafter, effectively functions as additional punishment for crimes." *Hinman*, ¶ 25. The Court thus "h[e]ld that the present SVORA scheme that includes the amendments from 2007 and thereafter cannot constitutionally be applied retroactively." *Hinman*, ¶ 26.

This Court declined to apply the severability clause in the 2007 SVORA to strike portions of the 2007 amendments. The Court explained that because its

analysis concerned the punitive nature of the law in totality, it could not pick and choose exactly which of the post-2007 amendments tipped the SVORA into punitive territory. *Hinman*, \P 26. But, significant to this case, the Court stated that it would "respect the precedent set by our conclusion about the SVORA in effect at the time of *Mount* and respect our typical practice of applying severability clauses when they apply to rescue the constitutionality of a law." *Id*.

4. Under *Hinman*, Rogers is still required to register as a sexual offender.

Under *Hinman*, the 2005 version of the SVORA is nonpunitive and still applies retroactively to offenders who committed their offense before 2005. As noted above, the 1997 version of the SVORA contained a retroactivity clause, and the Act has been interpreted to apply retroactively except where retroactive application violates the *ex post facto* clause. *Hinman*, ¶ 26; *Mount*, ¶ 29.

When Rogers committed his offense in 1991, the SVORA provided that an offender who commits an offense in another state is required to register while residing in Montana if the person committed "any violation of a law of another state or the federal government reasonably equivalent to" an offense defined as a sexual offense under Montana law. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-23-502(3)(b) (1991). A sexual assault committed against a victim who is less than 16 years old was defined as a sexual offense in 1991. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-23-502(3)(a) (1991) (including Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-502(3), which criminalizes sexual assault

committed against a person who is under 16 years old, in the definition of a sexual offense). The SVORA was amended in 2005 to also require any person to register who was required to register in another state. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-23-502(6) (2005); 2005 Mont. Laws, ch. 313, § 1. Rogers did not provide any information about his Idaho conviction with his petition for postconviction relief, but it appears that Rogers was required to register at any time he resided in Montana because his offense was reasonably equivalent to an offense defined as a sexual offense in Montana and/or because he was required to register in Idaho.

Under the 2005 version of the SVORA, which applied to Rogers at the time of his release and continues to apply to him under *Hinman*, Rogers's Idaho conviction required him to register for the remainder of his life unless he was relieved of his duty to register. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-23-506(1) (2005). The 2005 version of the SVORA provided that a level 1 sexual offender could petition for removal from the registry after 10 years and a court could grant the petition if the offender maintained a clean record and the court determined that continued registration was not necessary for the protection of the public. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-23-506(3) (2005). The same ability to petition for removal from the registry exists in the current version of the SVORA. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-23-506(3) (2023). Although Rogers has not provided any information about his underlying cases, and therefore has not provided information about his tier designation level,

the State believes that as an out-of-state offender, Rogers would be treated as a level 1 offender unless he was given a different designation.

Although Rogers could have petitioned for removal from the registry, there is no indication that he ever did so. The record also does not demonstrate whether he would have qualified for removal from the registry had he petitioned for it before he committed new offenses in 2016. As a result, nothing in the record demonstrates that Rogers was not legally required to register as a sexual offender in 2016. And his guilty plea provides evidence that he was legally required to register as a sexual offender in 2016. Rogers has therefore failed to provide evidence that he did not commit the offense for which he was convicted, which provides an additional ground for the district court to have denied his petition for postconviction relief.

CONCLUSION

The district court's denial of Rogers's untimely petition for postconviction relief should be affirmed.